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tice.’’  Luciano v. Olsten Corp., 110 F.3d
210, 217 (2d Cir.1997) (internal quotations
omitted and emphasis added).

Nevertheless, as we have previously
stated, we are ‘‘ ‘especially loath to regard
any error as harmless in a close case, since
in such a case even the smallest error may
have been enough to tilt the balance.’ ’’
Hester v. BIC Corp. 225 F.3d 178, 185 (2d
Cir.2000) (quoting United States v. Colom-
bo, 909 F.2d 711, 714 (2d Cir.1990)).  Here,
we are faced not simply with a close case—
although, indeed, our review of the trial
record shows that the evidence was highly
contested and that the jury could readily
have come out the opposite way—but,
more importantly, a case in which witness
credibility was the central issue.  Daw-
son’s misperception hypothesis was the
primary vehicle through which the defense
sought to convince the jury of what other-
wise seemed a factual impossibility:  that
Muirhead and McCarthy truthfully testi-
fied that Nimely was shot in the chest,
notwithstanding the uncontested medical
evidence that Nimely was shot in the back.
The prejudice that flowed to Nimely from
the erroneous admission of this testimony
was magnified when Dawson was permit-
ted to offer ‘‘expert’’ conclusions regarding
the tendency of police officers in general,
and Muirhead and McCarthy in particular,
not to lie in excessive force investigations.
Because there is a distinct possibility that,

absent the errors—perhaps individually,
and certainly cumulatively—the jury would
not have reached the verdict that it did,
the prejudice caused by them rendered the
verdict ‘‘a miscarriage of justice,’’ Munafo,
381 F.3d at 105 (internal quotation marks
omitted).  Therefore, a new trial must be
ordered.15

III. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment
of the district court is vacated, and the
case is remanded for a new trial.
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15. In light of this conclusion, and mindful of
the fact that our holding may substantially
alter the use, if any, of Dawson’s expertise at
a retrial, we need not reach two other issues
raised by Nimely in connection with Daw-
son’s testimony:  (a) that Dawson’s testimony
that principles of physics enabled Nimely to
continue turning after being struck with Muir-
head’s bullet was beyond the scope of Daw-
son’s expertise;  and (b) that the district court
erred in not allowing, during cross-examina-
tion of Dawson, a physical demonstration of
the manner in which Nimely was alleged to
have turned toward Muirhead after being
shot.  Similarly, we need not consider wheth-

er Nimely’s other claims of error justify a new
trial.  These are:  1) that the court abused its
discretion in denying his motion for a mistri-
al, made during the defense’s cross-examina-
tion of Nimely, and based on the defense’s
asking Nimely if he had been expelled from
high school;  2) that the district court’s jury
instructions were misleading on the issue of
the kind of threat of harm that must be per-
ceived by an officer to justify the use of deadly
force under the Fourth Amendment;  and 3)
that Nimely was entitled to a jury instruction
stating that a violation by Muirhead of the
NYPD Patrol Guide would be evidence of
excessive force.
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and Internet marketing company, seeking
to enjoin them from delivering to computer
users competitive ‘‘pop-up’’ Internet adver-
tisements. The United States District
Court for the Southern District of New
York, Deborah A. Batts, J., 309 F.Supp.2d
467, granted plaintiff’s motion for prelimi-
nary injunction. Defendants appealed.

Holdings:  The Court of Appeals, John M.
Walker, Jr., Chief Judge, held that:

(1) marketing company did not use web-
site owner’s trademarks when it in-
cluded similar website address in un-
published directory of terms triggering
delivery of advertising, and

(2) company did not use trademarks by
causing separate, branded pop-up ads
to appear on computer screens above,
below, or along bottom edge of website
window.

Reversed and remanded with instructions.

1. Trademarks O1435
Internet marketing company did not

‘‘use’’ ‘‘1-800CONTACTS’’ mark of website
owner, for purposes of Lanham Act, when
it included owner’s similar website address
in unpublished directory of terms that
triggered delivery of company’s contextu-
ally relevant advertising to computer
users; company did not place mark on any
goods or services in order to pass them off
as emanating from or authorized by owner,
differences between address and mark
were significant, and company used ad-
dress because it was address, rather than
because it bore any resemblance to mark.
Lanham Trade–Mark Act, § 45, 15
U.S.C.A. § 1127.

 See publication Words and Phras-
es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

2. Trademarks O1435
Internet marketing company did not

‘‘use’’ ‘‘1-800CONTACTS’’ mark of website

owner, for purposes of Lanham Act, when
it caused separate, branded pop-up ads to
appear on computer user’s screen either
above, below, or along bottom edge of
website window; ads appeared in separate
window that was prominently branded
with company’s mark, ads had no tangible
effect on appearance or functionality of
website, and appearances of ads were not
contingent upon or related to owner’s
mark, mark’s appearance on website, or
mark’s similarity to website address.
Lanham Trade–Mark Act, §§ 32(1), 43(a),
15 U.S.C.A. §§ 1114(1), 1125(a).
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J. Stewart, Alston & Bird, LLP;  Jennifer
G. Altman, Boies, Schiller & Flexner,
LLP, of counsel), New York, NY, for amici
curiae The Hertz Corporation, L.L. Bean,
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Before:  WALKER, Chief Judge, and
STRAUB, Circuit Judge.1

JOHN M. WALKER, JR., Chief Judge.

Defendant-appellant WhenU.com, Inc.
(‘‘WhenU’’) is an internet marketing com-
pany that uses a proprietary software
called ‘‘SaveNow’’ to monitor a computer
user’s internet activity in order to provide
the computer user (‘‘C-user’’) with adver-
tising, in the form of ‘‘pop-up ads,’’ that is
relevant to that activity.  Plaintiff-appellee

1–800 Contacts, Inc. (‘‘1–800’’) is a distrib-
utor that sells contact lenses and related
products by mail, telephone, and internet
website.  At the time 1–800 filed this ac-
tion in the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York (Debo-
rah A. Batts, District Judge ), it owned a
registered trademark in the service mark
‘‘WE DELIVER.  YOU SAVE.’’ and had
filed applications with the United States
Patent and Trademark Office on July 8,
1999, to register the service mark ‘‘1–
800CONTACTS’’,2 and on October 2, 2000,
to register the service mark of ‘‘1–
800CONTACTS’’ in a specific color-
blocked design logo.3

1–800 filed a complaint alleging, inter
alia,4 that WhenU was infringing 1–800’s
trademarks, in violation of the Lanham
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1114(1), 1125(a)(1), by
causing pop-up ads of 1–800’s competitors
to appear on a C-user’s desktop when the
C-user has accessed 1–800’s website.  In
an Opinion entered January 7, 2004, the
district court granted 1–800’s motion for a
preliminary injunction as it related to 1–
800’s trademark claims,5 and enjoined

1. The Honorable Ellsworth Van Graafeiland,
of the United States Court of Appeals for the
Second Circuit, was part of this panel, but
passed away following oral argument.  The
appeal is being decided by the remaining two
members of the panel, who are in agreement.
See 2d Cir. R. § 0.14(b).

2. 1–800 obtained registration for this service
mark on January 21, 2003.

3. This service mark was described as follows:
Applicant claims the colors yellow, blue and
white as part of the mark.  The box behind
the word CONTACTS is yellow.  The border
around the yellow box behind the word
CONTACTS is blue.  The box behind the
term ‘‘800’’ is blue.  The number one and
the word CONTACTS are written in blue.
The term ‘‘800’’ is written in white.

4. In addition to the trademark claims, 1–800
asserts claims for (1) unfair competition, false

designation of origin, trademark dilution, and
cybersquatting, in violation of § 43 of the
Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125;  (2) copyright
infringement and contributory copyright in-
fringement, in violation of the Federal Copy-
right Act, 17 U.S.C. §§ 101, et seq.,;  and (3)
state law claims for trademark dilution and
injury to business reputation, in violation of
N.Y. Gen. Bus. L. § 360–1;  and (4) common
law claims for unfair competition and tortious
interference with prospective economic ad-
vantage.

Several claims name Vision Direct, Inc.,
one of the 1–800 competitors whose advertise-
ments were featured in WhenU’s popup ads,
as either defendant or co-defendant with
WhenU.

5. The district court denied part of 1–800’s
motion, which related to 1–800’s copyright
claims.
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WhenU from using or otherwise displaying
1–800’s trademarks, or anything confusing-
ly similar to such trademarks, in connec-
tion with WhenU’s contextually relevant
advertising.  1–800 Contacts, Inc. v.
WhenU.com, 309 F.Supp.2d 467 (S.D.N.Y.
2003) (‘‘1-800 Contacts’’).  WhenU has filed
this interlocutory appeal.6

We hold that, as a matter of law,
WhenU does not ‘‘use’’ 1–800’s trademarks
within the meaning of the Lanham Act, 15
U.S.C. § 1127, when it (1) includes 1–800’s
website address, which is almost identical
to 1–800’s trademark, in an unpublished
directory of terms that trigger delivery of
WhenU’s contextually relevant advertising
to C-users;  or (2) causes separate, brand-
ed pop-up ads to appear on a C-user’s
computer screen either above, below, or
along the bottom edge of the 1–800 web-
site window.  Accordingly, we reverse the
district court’s entry of a preliminary in-
junction and remand with instructions to
(1) dismiss with prejudice 1–800’s trade-
mark infringement claims against WhenU,
and (2) proceed with 1–800’s remaining
claims.

BACKGROUND

I. The Internet and Windows

By way of introduction to this case we
incorporate the district court’s helpful tu-
torial on the internet and the Microsoft
Windows operating environment as it per-
tains to this litigation:

The Internet is a global network of
millions of interconnected comput-
ersTTTT [A C-user] can access TTT infor-
mation that is stored on the Internet in
repositories called ‘‘servers.’’  Much of
the information stored in servers on the

Internet can be viewed TTT in the form
of ‘‘webpages,’’ which are collections of
pictures and information, retrieved from
the Internet and assembled on the [C-
user]’s computer screen.  ‘‘Websites’’
are collection[s] of [related] webpages
that are organized and linked together
to allow a [C-user] to move from web-
page to webpage easilyTTTT

[A C-user] generally connects to the
Internet using an internet service pro-
vider (‘‘ISP’’) 10 TTT, which allows the [C-
user]’s computer to communicate with
the Internet.  Once a connection to the
Internet has been established TTT, a [C-
user] may ‘‘browse’’ or ‘‘surf’’ the Inter-
net by using a software program called
an Internet browser (‘‘browser’’).  Mi-
crosoft Internet Explorer is one example
of a browser program.11  TTT

 ————————

10 Examples of ISPs include Earthlink, Ver-
izon, NetZero, America Online.

11 Other examples of browser programs
include Netscape Navigator, Opera, and Moz-
illa;  in addition, many residential ISPs like
Earthlink and America Online provide their
own proprietary browsers.

To retrieve information from the In-
ternet, a [C-user] may type [a specific]
address[, called a domain name,] 13 of a
website into the [address line of a] web
browser TTTT

 ————————

13 TTTT Sporty’s Farm L.L.C. v. Sportsman’s
Market, Inc., 202 F.3d 489, 492–93 (2d Cir.
2000) [providing detailed explanation of do-
main names].

TTTT

[Alternatively,] TTT a [C-user] can use
[a ‘‘search engine’’] to find information
[by] TTT typ[ing] in a word or words
describing what is sought, and the

6. Vision Direct, Inc., also appealed the dis-
trict court’s decision and was a party to this
consolidated appeal.  See Docket No. 04–
0446(CON).  Following oral argument, how-
ever, 1–800 and Vision Direct filed a stipula-

tion of dismissal with respect to all of 1–800’s
claims against Vision Direct.  Accordingly,
we do not address those claims or Vision
Direct’s arguments on appeal.  Id.
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search engine will identify websites and
webpages that contain those words.

1–800 Contacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 474–75
(internal citations and some footnotes
omitted).

The district court further explained that
[m]any [C-users] access the Internet
with computers that use the Microsoft
Windows operating system (‘‘Windows’’).
Windows allows a [C-user] to work in
numerous software applications simulta-
neously.  In Windows, the background
screen is called the ‘‘desktop.’’  When a
software program is launched, a ‘‘win-
dow’’ appears on the desktop, within
which the functions of that program are
displayed and operate. A [C-user] may
open multiple windows simultaneously,
allowing the [C-user] to launch and use
more than one software application at
the same time.  Individual windows may
be moved around the desktop, and be-
cause the computer screen is two-dimen-
sional, one window may obscure another
window, thus appearing to be ‘‘in front
of’’ another window.

Id. at 475 (internal citations omitted).
Some programs on a C-user’s computer,
such as a calendar or e-mail application,
may cause windows to open on the C-
user’s desktop independently of any con-
temporaneous action by the C-user.  See
Wells Fargo & Co. v. WhenU.com, Inc.,
293 F.Supp.2d 734, 743 ¶ 53 (E.D.Mich.
2003);  see generally id. at 740–43 (provid-
ing in-depth description of how software
applications and web browsers operate in
the Windows environment, and noting that
Windows is currently used on approxi-
mately 95% of personal computers).

II. The Challenged Conduct

The specific conduct at issue in this case
has been described in detail by the district
court, see 1–800 Contacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at
476–78, as well as other courts that have

addressed similar claims against WhenU,
see Wells Fargo, 293 F.Supp.2d at 738–40,
743–46;  U–Haul Int’l, Inc. v. WhenU.com,
Inc., 279 F.Supp.2d 723, 725–26 (E.D.Va.
2003).  Accordingly, we recite only those
facts relevant to this appeal.

WhenU provides a proprietary software
called ‘‘SaveNow’’ without charge to indi-
vidual C-users, usually as part of a bun-
dle of software that the C-user voluntari-
ly downloads from the internet.  ‘‘Once
installed, the SaveNow software requires
no action by the [C-user] to activate its
operations;  instead, the SaveNow soft-
ware responds to a [C-user]’s ‘in-the-mo-
ment’ activities by generating pop-up ad-
vertisement windows’’ that are relevant to
those specific activities.  1–800 Contacts,
309 F.Supp.2d at 477.  To deliver contex-
tually relevant advertising to C-users, the
SaveNow software employs an internal di-
rectory comprising ‘‘approximately 32,000
[website addresses] and [address] frag-
ments, 29,000 search terms and 1,200
keyword algorithms,’’ Wells Fargo, 293
F.Supp.2d at 743 ¶ 58, that correlate with
particular consumer interests to screen
the words a C-user types into a web
browser or search engine or that appear
within the internet sites a C-user visits.

When the SaveNow software recognizes
a term, it randomly selects an advertise-
ment from the corresponding product or
service category to deliver to the C-user’s
computer screen at roughly the same time
the website or search result sought by the
C-user appears.  As the district court ex-
plained,

The SaveNow software generates at
least three kinds of ads—an ad may be a
small ‘pop-up’ TTT [that appears] in the
bottom right-hand corner of a [C-user]’s
screen;  it may be a ‘pop-under’ adver-
tisement that appears behind the web-
page the [C-user] initially visited;  or it
may be a ‘panoramic’ ad[ ] that stretches
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across the bottom of the [C-user]’s com-
puter screen.

1–800 Contacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 478.
Each type of ad appears in a window that
is separate from the particular website or
search-results page the C-user has ac-
cessed.  Id. In addition, a label stating ‘‘A
WhenU Offer—click ? for info.’’ appears in
the window frame surrounding the ad, to-
gether with a button on the top right of
the window frame marked ‘‘?’’ that, when
clicked by the C-user, displays a new win-
dow containing information about WhenU
and its ads,7 as well as instructions for
uninstalling the resident SaveNow soft-
ware.  Id. at 478 nn.22 & 23.

Usually there is a ‘‘few-second’’ delay
between the moment a user accesses a
website, and the point at which a Save-
Now pop-up advertisement appears on
the [C-user]’s screen.

If a SaveNow user who has accessed
the 1–800 Contacts website and has re-
ceived a WhenU.com pop-up advertise-
ment does not want to view the adver-
tisement or the advertiser’s website, the
user can click on the visible portion of
the [1–800] window TTT, [which will
move] the 1–800 Contacts website TTT to
the front of the screen display, with the
pop-up ad moving behind the website
window.  Or, TTT the [C-user] can close
the pop-up website by clicking on its
‘‘X,’’ or close, button.  If the user clicks
on the pop-up ad, the main browser
window (containing the 1–800 Contacts
website) will be navigated to the website

of the advertiser that was featured in-
side the pop-up advertisement.

Id. at 476–77 (internal citations omitted).

In its complaint, 1–800 alleges that
WhenU’s conduct infringes 1–800’s trade-
marks, in violation of Sections 32(1) and
43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C.
§§ 1114(1), 1125(a), by delivering adver-
tisements of 1–800’s competitors (e.g., Vi-
sion Direct, Inc.) to C-users who have
intentionally accessed 1–800’s website.  Al-
though somewhat difficult to discern from
the complaint, the allegations that pertain
specifically to 1–800’s trademark claims
appear to be as follows:  (1) WhenU’s pop-
up ads appear ‘‘on,’’ ‘‘over,’’ or ‘‘on top of’’
the 1–800 website without 1–800’s authori-
zation, and change its appearance;  (2) as a
result, the ads impermissibly ‘‘appear to be
an integral and fully authorized part of [1–
800’s] website’’;  (3) in addition, WhenU’s
unauthorized pop-up ads ‘‘interfere with
and disrupt the carefully designed display
of content’’ on the website, thereby alter-
ing and hindering a C-user’s access to 1–
800’s website;  (4) WhenU is thereby ‘‘free-
riding’’ and ‘‘trad[ing] upon the goodwill
and substantial customer recognition asso-
ciated with the 1–800 Contacts marks’’;
and (5) WhenU is using 1–800’s trade-
marks in a manner that creates a likeli-
hood of confusion.

Following an evidentiary hearing on 1–
800’s motion for a preliminary injunction,
the district court held that 1–800 had dem-
onstrated a likelihood of success on its
trademark infringement claims and issued
a preliminary injunction prohibiting

7. Specifically, C-users are informed that
‘‘[t]his offer is brought to you by WhenU.
com, through the SaveNow service.  Save-
Now alerts you to offers and services at the
moment when they are most relevant to
you.  SaveNow does not collect any person-
al information or browsing history from its
users.  Your privacy is 100 percent protect-

ed.  The offers shown to you by SaveNow
are not affiliated with the site you are visit-
ing.  For more about SaveNow, click here
or e-mail information at WhenU.com. At
WhenU, we are committed to putting you in
control of your Internet experience.’’

1–800 Contacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 478 n. 22.
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WhenU from utilizing 1–800’s trademarks.8

1–800 Contacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 510.
WhenU appeals the district court’s deci-
sion.

DISCUSSION

WhenU challenges the district court’s
finding that WhenU ‘‘uses’’ 1–800’s trade-
marks within the meaning of the Lanham
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1127.  See 1–800 Con-
tacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 489.  In the alter-
native, WhenU argues that the district
court erred in finding that WhenU’s pop-
up ads create a likelihood of both source
confusion and ‘‘initial interest confusion,’’
as to whether WhenU is ‘‘somehow associ-
ated with [1–800] or that [1–800] has con-
sented to [WhenU’s] use of the pop-up
ad[s].’’  Id. at 494;  see id. at 503–04.  Be-
cause we agree with WhenU that it does
not ‘‘use’’ 1–800’s trademarks, we need not
and do not address the issue of likelihood
of confusion.

I. Legal Standards

A. Preliminary Injunction

To obtain a preliminary injunction,

a party TTT must demonstrate (1) the
likelihood of irreparable injury in the
absence of such an injunction, and (2)
either (a) likelihood of success on the
merits or (b) sufficiently serious ques-
tions going to the merits to make them a
fair ground for litigation plus a balance
of hardships tipping decidedly toward
the party requesting the preliminary re-
lief.

Fed. Express Corp. v. Fed. Espresso, Inc.,
201 F.3d 168, 173 (2d Cir.2000).  We re-
view a district court’s grant of a prelimi-
nary injunction for abuse of discretion.
S.C. Johnson & Son, Inc. v. Clorox Co.,
241 F.3d 232, 237 (2d Cir.2001).  Such
abuse will be found if a district court rests
its decision on a clearly erroneous finding
of fact or makes an error of law.  Id.

B. Lanham Act

In order to prevail on a trademark in-
fringement claim for registered trade-
marks, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1114,9 or
unregistered trademarks, pursuant to 15
U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1),10 a plaintiff must es-

8. The district court’s order stated, in relevant
part:

[WhenU is] preliminarily enjoined from:  1)
including the 1–800 Contacts mark, and
confusingly similar terms, as elements in
the SaveNow software directory, and 2) dis-
playing Plaintiff’s mark ‘‘in the TTT advertis-
ing of’’ Defendant Vision Direct’s services,
by causing Defendant Vision Direct’s pop-
up advertisements to appear when a com-
puter user has made a specific choice to
access or find Plaintiff’s website by typing
Plaintiff’s mark into the URL bar of a web
browser or into an Internet search engine.
Within 30 days of the date of this Order,
Defendants SHALL effect this injunction.

1–800 Contacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 510 (altera-
tion in original).

9. 15 U.S.C. § 1114 provides, in relevant part,

(1) Any person who shall, without the con-
sent of the registrant—

(a) use in commerce any reproduction,
counterfeit, copy, or colorable imitation
of a registered mark in connection with
the sale, offering for sale, distribution, or
advertising of any goods or services on or
in connection with which such use is
likely to cause confusion, or to cause mis-
take, or to deceive TTT

TTT,
shall be liable in a civil action by the regis-
trant for the remedies hereinafter provided.

10. 15 U.S.C. § 1125 provides, in relevant
part,

(a) Civil action
(1) Any person who, on or in connection
with any goods or services, or any contain-
er for goods, uses in commerce any word,
term, name, symbol, or device, or any com-
bination thereof, or any false designation of
origin, false or misleading description of
fact, or false or misleading representation
of fact, which—
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tablish that (1) it has a valid mark that is
entitled to protection under the Lanham
Act;  and that (2) the defendant used the
mark, (3) in commerce, (4) ‘‘in connection
with the sale TTT or advertising of goods or
services,’’ 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)(a), (5), with-
out the plaintiff’s consent.  See Time, Inc.
v. Petersen Publ’g Co., 173 F.3d 113, 117
(2d Cir.1999);  Genesee Brewing Co., Inc.
v. Stroh Brewing Co., 124 F.3d 137, 142
(2d Cir.1997).  In addition, the plaintiff
must show that defendant’s use of that
mark ‘‘is likely to cause confusion TTT as to
the affiliation, connection, or association of
[defendant] with [plaintiff], or as to the
origin, sponsorship, or approval of [the
defendant’s] goods, services, or commercial
activities by [plaintiff].’’  15 U.S.C.
§ 1125(a)(1)(A);  see also Estee Lauder
Inc. v. The Gap, Inc., 108 F.3d 1503, 1508–
09 (2d Cir.1997);  Gruner v Jahr USA
Publ’g v. Meredith Corp., 991 F.2d 1072,
1075 (2d Cir.1993).

The only issue before us on appeal is
whether the district court abused its dis-
cretion when it entered the preliminary
injunction against WhenU;  specifically,
whether the district court erred in finding
that 1–800 had demonstrated a likelihood
of success on its trademark claims.  As a
result, the threshold of error required to
reverse the district court’s decision is high-
er than it would be were we reviewing a
decision on 1–800’s trademark claims
themselves.  That higher threshold is met
in this case, however, because the district
court erred as a matter of law in finding
that WhenU ‘‘uses’’ 1–800’s trademark.
Because 1–800 cannot establish an essen-

tial element of its trademark claims, not
only must the preliminary injunction be
vacated, but 1–800’s trademark infringe-
ment claims must be dismissed as well.

II. ‘‘Use’’ Under the Lanham Act

The Lanham Act defines ‘‘use in com-
merce,’’ in relevant part, as follows:

TTTT For purposes of this Chapter, a
mark shall be deemed to be in use in
commerce-

(1) on goods when-
(A) it is placed in any manner on the
goods or their containers or the dis-
plays associated therewith or on the
tags or labels affixed thereto, or if the
nature of the goods makes such place-
ment impracticable, then on docu-
ments associated with the goods or
their sale, and
(B) the goods are sold or transported
in commerce, and
(2) on services when it is used or dis-

played in the sale or advertising of ser-
vices and the services are rendered in
commerce TTTT

15 U.S.C. § 1127.

In issuing the preliminary injunction,
the district court held that WhenU

use[s] [1–800]’s mark in two ways.
First, in causing pop-up advertisements
for Defendant Vision Direct to appear
when SaveNow users have specifically
attempted to access [1–800]’s website—
on which Plaintiff’s trademark ap-
pears—[WhenU is] displaying Plaintiff’s
mark ‘‘in the TTT advertising of’’ Defen-
dant Vision Direct’s services TTT [and,

(A) is likely to cause confusion, or to
cause mistake, or to deceive as to the
affiliation, connection, or association of
such person with another person, or as to
the origin, sponsorship, or approval of his
or her goods, services, or commercial ac-
tivities by another person, or

(B) in commercial advertising or pro-
motion, misrepresents the nature, charac-
teristics, qualities, or geographic origin of
his or her or another person’s goods,
services, or commercial activities,

shall be liable in a civil action by any per-
son who believes that he or she is or is
likely to be damaged by such act.
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t]hus, TTT [is] ‘‘using’’ Plaintiff’s marks
that appear on Plaintiff’s website.

Second, Defendant WhenU.com in-
cludes Plaintiff’s [website address],
¢www.1800contacts. com$, [which in-
corporates 1–800’s trademark,] in the
proprietary WhenU.com directory of
terms that triggers pop-up advertise-
ments on SaveNow users’ computers.
In so doing, Defendant WhenU.com
‘‘uses’’ Plaintiff’s mark TTT to advertise
and publicize companies that are in di-
rect competition with Plaintiff.

1–800 Contacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 489.
Prior to the district court’s decision, two

other courts had addressed the issue of
‘‘use’’ as it applies to WhenU’s specific
activities and reached the opposite conclu-
sion.  In Wells Fargo & Co. v. WhenU.
com, Inc., 293 F.Supp.2d 734 (E.D.Mich.
2003), the district court denied Wells Far-
go’s motion for a preliminary injunction
after finding that WhenU’s inclusion of
plaintiff Wells Fargo’s trademarked web-
site address in WhenU’s proprietary direc-
tory of keywords was not ‘‘use’’ for pur-
poses of the Lanham Act, and that WhenU
did not alter or interfere with Wells Far-
go’s website in any manner.  Id. at 757–61.
The district court in U–Haul Internation-
al, Inc. v. WhenU.com, Inc., 279 F.Supp.2d
723 (E.D.Va.2003), employing a very simi-
lar analysis, granted summary judgment in
favor of WhenU after concluding that
WhenU’s inclusion of U–Haul’s trade-
marked website address in the SaveNow
directory was not actionable because it was
for a ‘‘pure machine-linking function’’ that
was not ‘‘use’’ under the Lanham Act. Id.
at 728 (internal quotation marks omitted).

In the case before us, the district court’s
consideration of these two comprehensive
decisions on the precise issue at hand was
confined to a footnote in which it cited the
cases, summarized their holdings in paren-
theticals, and concluded, without discus-

sion, that it ‘‘disagree[d] with, and [was]
not bound by these findings.’’  1–800 Con-
tacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 490 n. 43. Unlike
the district court, we find the thorough
analyses set forth in both U–Haul and
Wells Fargo to be persuasive and compel-
ling.

A. The SaveNow Directory

[1] The district court held that
WhenU’s inclusion of 1–800’s website ad-
dress in the SaveNow directory constitutes
a prohibited ‘‘use’’ of 1–800’s trademark.
Id. at 489.  We disagree.

At the outset, we note that WhenU does
not ‘‘use’’ 1–800’s trademark in the manner
ordinarily at issue in an infringement
claim:  it does not ‘‘place’’ 1–800 trade-
marks on any goods or services in order to
pass them off as emanating from or au-
thorized by 1–800.  See U–Haul, 279
F.Supp.2d at 728;  cf.  L.L. Bean, Inc. v.
Drake Publishers, Inc., 811 F.2d 26, 32–34
(1st Cir.1987);  Societe Comptoir de L’In-
dustrie Cotonniere Etablissements Bous-
sac v. Alexander’s Dep’t Stores, Inc., 299
F.2d 33, 37 (2d Cir.1962).  The fact is that
WhenU does not reproduce or display 1–
800’s trademarks at all, nor does it cause
the trademarks to be displayed to a C-
user.  Rather, WhenU reproduces 1–800’s
website address, «www.1800contacts.
com.», which is similar, but not identical, to
1–800’s 1–800CONTACTS trademark.  See
1–800 Contacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 478–79.

The district court found that the differ-
ences between 1–800’s trademarks and the
website address utilized by WhenU were
insignificant because they were limited to
the addition of the ‘‘www.’’ and ‘‘.com’’ and
the omission of the hyphen and a space.
See id. We conclude that, to the contrary,
the differences between the marks are
quite significant because they transform 1–
800’s trademark—which is entitled to pro-
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tection under the Lanham Act—into a
word combination that functions more or
less like a public key to 1–800’s website.

Moreover, it is plain that WhenU is us-
ing 1–800’s website address precisely be-
cause it is a website address, rather than
because it bears any resemblance to 1–
800’s trademark, because the only place
WhenU reproduces the address is in the
SaveNow directory.  Although the directo-
ry resides in the C-user’s computer, it is
inaccessible to both the C-user and the
general public.  See id. at 476 (noting that
directory is scrambled to preclude access).
Thus, the appearance of 1–800’s website
address in the directory does not create a
possibility of visual confusion with 1–800’s
mark.  More important, a WhenU pop-up
ad cannot be triggered by a C-user’s input
of the 1–800 trademark or the appearance
of that trademark on a webpage accessed
by the c-user.  Rather, in order for
WhenU to capitalize on the fame and rec-
ognition of 1–800’s trademark—the im-
proper motivation both 1–800 and the dis-
trict court ascribe to WhenU—it would
have needed to put the actual trademark
on the list.11

In contrast to some of its competitors,
moreover, WhenU does not disclose the
proprietary contents of the SaveNow di-
rectory to its advertising clients nor does it
permit these clients to request or purchase
specified keywords to add to the directory.
See GEICO v. Google, Inc., 330 F.Supp.2d
700, 703–04 (E.D.Va.2004) (distinguishing
WhenU’s conduct from defendants’ prac-
tice of selling ‘‘keywords’’ to its advertising

clients), claim dism’d, Order, Dec. 15, 2004
(dismissing Lanham Act claim following
bench trial on finding no likelihood of con-
fusion);  see also U–Haul, 279 F.Supp.2d
at 728 (discussing other practices).12

A company’s internal utilization of a
trademark in a way that does not commu-
nicate it to the public is analogous to a
individual’s private thoughts about a trade-
mark.  Such conduct simply does not vio-
late the Lanham Act, which is concerned
with the use of trademarks in connection
with the sale of goods or services in a
manner likely to lead to consumer confu-
sion as to the source of such goods or
services.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1127;  see also
Louis Altman, 4 Callmann on Unfair
Competition, Trademarks and Monopolies
§ 22:25 n.1 (4th ed.  2004) (‘‘A fortiori, a
defendant who does not sell, but merely
uses internally within his own company,
the trademarked product of another, is not
a trademark infringer or unfair competitor
by virtue of such use.’’).

Accordingly, we conclude that WhenU’s
inclusion of the 1–800 website address in
its SaveNow directory does not infringe on
1–800’s trademark.

B. The Pop-up Advertisements

[2] The primary issue to be resolved
by this appeal is whether the placement of
pop-up ads on a C-user’s screen contempo-
raneously with either the 1–800 website or
a list of search results obtained by the C-
user’s input of the 1–800 website address
constitutes ‘‘use’’ under the Lanham Act,

11. This observation, however, is not intended
to suggest that inclusion of a trademark in the
directory would necessarily be an infringing
‘‘use.’’  We express no view on this distinct
issue.

12. We think it noteworthy that prior to filing
its lawsuit against WhenU, 1–800 entered into
agreements with WhenU competitors Gator
and Yahoo! to have its own pop-up and ban-

ner ads delivered to C-users in response to the
C-users’ input of particular website addresses
and keywords that were specified by 1–800.
Included in the list 1–800 provided to Gator,
for instance, were the website addresses for
several of 1–800’s competitors, including de-
fendant-appellee Vision Direct, Coastal Con-
tacts, and Lens Express.
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15 U.S.C. §§ 1114(1), 1125(a).  The district
court reasoned that WhenU, by ‘‘causing
pop-up advertisements for Defendant Vi-
sion Direct to appear when SaveNow users
have specifically attempted to access [1–
800]’s website, TTT [is] displaying [1–800]’s
mark in the TTT advertising of TTT Vision
Direct’s services.’’  1–800 Contacts, 309
F.Supp.2d at 489.

The fatal flaw with this holding is that
WhenU’s pop-up ads do not display the 1–
800 trademark.  The district court’s hold-
ing, however, appears to have been based
on the court’s acceptance of 1–800’s claim
that WhenU’s pop-up ads appear ‘‘on’’ and
affect 1–800’s website.  See, e.g., id. at 479
(stating that WhenU has ‘‘no relationship
with the companies on whose websites the
pop-up advertisements appear’’) (emphasis
omitted) (emphasis added).  As we ex-
plained above, the WhenU pop-up ads ap-
pear in a separate window that is promi-
nently branded with the WhenU mark;
they have absolutely no tangible effect on
the appearance or functionality of the 1–
800 website.

More important, the appearance of
WhenU’s pop-up ad is not contingent upon
or related to 1–800’s trademark, the trade-
mark’s appearance on 1–800’s website, or
the mark’s similarity to 1–800’s website
address.  Rather, the contemporaneous
display of the ads and trademarks is the
result of the happenstance that 1–800
chose to use a mark similar to its trade-
mark as the address to its web page and to
place its trademark on its website.  The
pop-up ad, which is triggered by the C-
user’s input of 1–800’s website address,
would appear even if 1–800’s trademarks

were not displayed on its website.  A pop-
up ad could also appear if the C-user typed
the 1–800 website address, not as an ad-
dress, but as a search term in the brow-
ser’s search engine, and then accessed 1–
800’s website by using the hyperlink that
appeared in the list of search results.13

In addition, 1–800’s website address is
not the only term in the SaveNow directo-
ry that could trigger a Vision Direct ad to
‘‘pop up’’ on 1–800’s website.  For exam-
ple, an ad could be triggered if a C-user’s
searched for ‘‘contacts’’ or ‘‘eye care,’’ both
terms contained in the directory, and then
clicked on the listed hyperlink to 1–800’s
website.

Exemplifying the conceptual difficulty
that inheres in this issue, the district
court’s decision suggests that the crux of
WhenU’s wrongdoing—and the primary
basis for the district court’s finding of
‘‘use’’—is WhenU’s alleged effort to capi-
talize on a C-user’s specific attempt to
access the 1–800 website.  As the court
explained it,

WhenU.com is doing far more than
merely ‘‘displaying’’ Plaintiff’s mark.
WhenU’s advertisements are delivered
to a SaveNow user when the user direct-
ly accesses Plaintiff’s website—thus al-
lowing Defendant Vision Direct to profit
from the goodwill and reputation in
Plaintiff’s website that led the user to
access Plaintiff’s website in the first
place.

1–800 Contacts, 309 F.Supp.2d at 490.  Ab-
sent improper use of 1–800’s trademark,
however, such conduct does not violate the
Lanham Act. See TrafFix Devices, Inc. v.
Mktg. Displays, Inc., 532 U.S. 23, 29, 121

13. The Second Circuit has defined the term
‘‘search engine’’ operationally:

A search engine will find all web pages on
the Internet with a particular word or
phrase.  Given the current state of search
engine technology, that search will often

produce a list of hundreds of web sites
through which the [C-user] must sort in
order to find what he or she is looking for.

Sporty’s Farm L.L.C. v. Sportsman’s Market,
Inc., 202 F.3d 489, 493 (2d Cir.2000).
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S.Ct. 1255, 149 L.Ed.2d 164 (2001);  Kel-
logg Co. v. Nat’l Biscuit Co., 305 U.S. 111,
122, 59 S.Ct. 109, 83 L.Ed. 73 (1938) (hold-
ing that Kellogg’s sharing in the goodwill
of the unprotected ‘‘Shredded Wheat’’
market was ‘‘not unfair’’);  see also William
P. Kratzke, Normative Economic Analy-
sis of Trademark Law, 21 Memphis St.
U.L.Rev. 199, 223 (1991) (criticizing impor-
tation into trademark law of ‘‘unjust en-
richment’’ and ‘‘free riding’’ theories based
on a trademark holder’s goodwill). Indeed,
it is routine for vendors to seek specific
‘‘product placement’’ in retail stores pre-
cisely to capitalize on their competitors’
name recognition.  For example, a drug
store typically places its own store-brand
generic products next to the trademarked
products they emulate in order to induce a
customer who has specifically sought out
the trademarked product to consider the
store’s less-expensive alternative.  WhenU
employs this same marketing strategy by
informing C-users who have sought out a
specific trademarked product about avail-
able coupons, discounts, or alternative
products that may be of interest to them.

1–800 disputes this analogy by arguing
that unlike a drugstore, only the 1–800
website is displayed when the pop-up ad
appears.  This response, however, ignores
the fact that a C-user who has installed the
SaveNow software receives WhenU pop-up
ads in a myriad of contexts, the vast ma-
jority of which are unlikely to have any-
thing to do with 1–800 or the C-user’s
input of the 1–800 website address.14

The cases relied on by 1–800 do not
alter our analysis.  As explained in detail
by the court in U–Haul, they are all readi-
ly distinguishable because WhenU’s con-
duct does not involve any of the activities
those courts found to constitute ‘‘use.’’  U–
Haul, 279 F.Supp.2d at 728–29 (collecting
cases).  Significantly, WhenU’s activities
do not alter or affect 1–800’s website in
any way.  Nor do they divert or misdirect
C-users away from 1–800’s website, or al-
ter in any way the results a C-user will
obtain when searching with the 1–800
trademark or website address.  Id. at 728–
29.  Compare Playboy Enters., Inc. v. Net-
scape Communications Corp., 354 F.3d
1020, 1024 (9th Cir.2004) (holding that in-
fringement could be based on defendant’s
insertion of unidentified banner ads on C-
user’s search-results page);  Brookfield
Communications v. West Coast Entm’t
Corp., 174 F.3d 1036 (9th Cir.1999) (hold-
ing that defendant’s use of trademarks in
‘‘metatags,’’ invisible text within websites
that search engines use for ranking re-
sults, constituted a ‘‘use in commerce’’ un-
der the Lanham Act);  see generally Bi-
hari v. Gross, 119 F.Supp.2d 309 (S.D.N.Y.
2000) (discussing Brookfield and similar
cases).15

In addition, unlike several other internet
advertising companies, WhenU does not
‘‘sell’’ keyword trademarks to its custom-
ers or otherwise manipulate which catego-
ry-related advertisement will pop up in
response to any particular terms on the
internal directory.  See, e.g., GEICO, 330
F.Supp.2d at 703–04 (finding that Google’s
sale to advertisers of right to use specific

14. Indeed, although we do not address the
district court’s finding of a likelihood of con-
fusion, we note that 1–800’s claim that C-
users will likely be confused into thinking that
1–800 has sponsored its competitor’s pop-up
ads is fairly incredulous given that C-users
who have downloaded the SaveNow software
receive numerous WhenU pop-up ads—each

displaying the WhenU brand—in varying con-
texts and for a broad range of products.

15. We note that in distinguishing cases such
as Brookfield, Playboy and Bihari, we do not
necessarily endorse their holdings.  See Play-
boy, 354 F.3d at 1034–36 (Berzon, C.J., con-
curring, noting disagreement with holding in
Brookfield ).
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trademarks as ‘‘keywords’’ to trigger their
ads constituted ‘‘use in commerce’’).  In
other words, WhenU does not link trade-
marks to any particular competitor’s ads,
and a customer cannot pay to have its pop-
up ad appear on any specific website or in
connection with any particular trademark.
See id. at 704 (distinguishing WhenU’s
conduct on this basis).  Instead, the Save-
Now directory terms trigger categorical
associations (e.g., www.1800Contacts. com
might trigger the category of ‘‘eye care’’),
at which point, the software will randomly
select one of the pop-up ads contained in
the eye-care category to send to the C-
user’s desktop.

Perhaps because ultimately 1–800 is un-
able to explain precisely how WhenU
‘‘uses’’ its trademark, it resorts to boot-
strapping a finding of ‘‘use’’ by alleging
other elements of a trademark claim.  For
example, 1–800 invariably refers to
WhenU’s pop-up ads as ‘‘unauthorized’’ in
an effort, it would seem, to establish by
sheer force of repetition the element of
unauthorized use of a trademark.  Not
surprisingly, 1–800 cites no legal authority
for the proposition that advertisements,
software applications, or any other visual
image that can appear on a C-user’s com-
puter screen must be authorized by the
owner of any website that will appear con-
temporaneously with that image.  The fact
is that WhenU does not need 1–800’s au-
thorization to display a separate window
containing an ad any more than Corel
would need authorization from Microsoft
to display its WordPerfect word-processor
in a window contemporaneously with a
Word word-processing window.  More-
over, contrary to 1–800’s repeated admoni-
tions, WhenU’s pop-up ads are author-
ized—if unwittingly—by the C-user who
has downloaded the SaveNow software.

1–800 also argues that WhenU’s con-
duct is ‘‘use’’ because it is likely to confuse

C-users as to the source of the ad.  It
buttresses this claim with a survey it sub-
mitted to the district court that purported-
ly demonstrates, inter alia, that (1) a ma-
jority of C-users believe that pop-up ads
that appear on websites are sponsored by
those websites, and (2) numerous C-users
are unaware that they have downloaded
the SaveNow software. 1–800 also relies on
several cases in which the court seemingly
based a finding of trademark ‘‘use’’ on the
confusion such ‘‘use’’ was likely to cause.
See, e.g., Bihari, 119 F.Supp.2d at 318
(holding that defendant’s use of trade-
marks in metatags constituted a ‘‘use in
commerce’’ under the Lanham Act in part
because the hyperlinks ‘‘effectively act[ed]
as a conduit, steering potential customers
away from Bihari Interiors and toward its
competitors’’);  GEICO, 330 F.Supp.2d at
703–04 (finding that Google’s sale to adver-
tisers of right to have specific trademarks
trigger their ads was ‘‘use in commerce’’
because it created likelihood of confusion
that Google had the trademark holder’s
authority to do so).  Again, this rationale
puts the cart before the horse.  Not only
are ‘‘use,’’ ‘‘in commerce,’’ and ‘‘likelihood
of confusion’’ three distinct elements of a
trademark infringement claim, but ‘‘use’’
must be decided as a threshold matter
because, while any number of activities
may be ‘‘in commerce’’ or create a likeli-
hood of confusion, no such activity is ac-
tionable under the Lanham Act absent the
‘‘use’’ of a trademark.  15 U.S.C. § 1114;
see People for the Ethical Treatment of
Animals v. Doughney, 263 F.3d 359, 364
(4th Cir.2001).  Because 1–800 has failed
to establish such ‘‘use,’’ its trademark in-
fringement claims fail.

III. 1–800’s Remaining Claims

In issuing the preliminary injunction,
the district court expressly confined its
findings in support of the injunction to 1–
800’s trademark infringement.  According-
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ly, 1–800’s remaining claims, as to which
we express no view, will be the subject of
further proceedings on remand.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we reverse
the district court’s entry of a preliminary
injunction and remand with instructions to
(1) dismiss with prejudice 1–800’s trade-
mark infringement claims against WhenU,
and (2) proceed with 1–800’s remaining
claims.
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Background:  Legal permanent resident
alien sued attorney general, challenging
denial of application for naturalization. The
United States District Court for the East-
ern District of New York, Frederic Block,
J., 267 F.Supp.2d 377, entered judgment
for government. Alien appealed.

Holdings:  The Court of Appeals, John M.
Walker, Jr., Chief Judge, held that:

(1) felony conviction precluded determina-
tion that alien had good moral charac-
ter, and

(2) statutory provision denying naturaliza-
tion to persons convicted of felony was
not improperly retroactively applied to
alien.

Affirmed.

1. Aliens O62(5)
Statutory requirement that alien ap-

plying for naturalization must be of good
moral character, precluding naturalization
for an applicant who had been convicted of
felony, applied to applicants for naturaliza-
tion under statute governing naturalization
of veterans.  Immigration and Nationality
Act, §§ 101(f)(8), 329, 8 U.S.C.A.
§§ 1101(f)(8), 1440.

2. Aliens O62(5)
Alien who was legal permanent resi-

dent and had served in military during
time of hostilities was precluded from nat-
uralization, under statute governing natu-
ralization of veterans, by felony conviction
which barred satisfaction of requirement
that he have good moral character.  Immi-
gration and Nationality Act, §§ 101(f)(8),
329, 8 U.S.C.A. §§ 1101(f)(8), 1440.

3. Statutes O190, 212.7
Courts must presume that a legisla-

ture says in a statute what it means and
means in a statute what it says there;
when the words of a statute are unambigu-
ous judicial inquiry is complete.

4. Aliens O60.1
Statutory provision denying natural-

ization to persons convicted of felony was
not improperly retroactively applied to le-
gal resident alien, seeking naturalization
under special provision for veterans serv-

1. Alberto Gonzales is substituted for his pre-
decessor, John Ashcroft, as Attorney General

of the United States.  See Fed. R.App. P.
43(c)(2).


